UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 96-60742

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Plaintiff - Appellee,
VERSUS
CHRI STI NE WAl NUSKI S,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Southern District of M ssissippi
April 9, 1996

Before GARWOOD, DUHE, and DEMOSS, Circuit Judges.
DUHE, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - Appel | ant Chri sti ne Wai nuski s appeals the district
court’s denial of her 28 U S . C. § 2255 notion to set aside her
judgnent of conviction for violation of 18 U S C 8§ 924(c)(1)
because of a change in the law, resulting froma clarification of

use” of a firearmin Bailey v. United States,

t he neani ng of
US _, 116 S .. 501, L.Ed.2d 472 (1995). For reasons that foll ow,
we affirmthe district court’s denial of her notion.

| .

Foll ow ng an investigation of her activities and a search of



t he resi dence she shared with Joseph Materne (“Materne”), Christine
Wai nuskis (“Wai nuskis”) was indicted by a federal grand jury on
four counts involving drugs and weapons: conspiracy to possess
wWth intent to distribute; possession with intent to distribute;
knowi ng use or carrying of a firearmduring or in relation to a
drug trafficking offense; and felon in possession of a firearm
O ficers found nethanphetam ne, scales, baggies, other itens
associated wth the packaging and distributing of illegal drugs,
and 27 guns during the search. Wai nuskis was discovered in a
bedroom of her residence, lying on a bed with a | oaded gun tucked
under the mattress. Her co-defendant, Materne, was seated near two
weapons, both of which were visible to the searching officers and
easily accessible to him

I n exchange for the governnent dropping charges of conspiracy
to possess with intent to distribute nethanphetam ne and of
possession with intent to distribute that drug, Wai nuski s pled
guilty to the remaining two counts: violations of 18 U S.C. 924

(c)(1)* and 18 U.S.C. 8 922(g) (felon in possession of a firearm.?

The pertinent portion of the statute reads as foll ows:

“Whoever, during and in relation to any crine
of violence or drug trafficking crine... uses
or carries afirearm shall,...be sentenced to
i nprisonnment for five years... .”
2The defendant had an earlier conviction for possession for
Sal e of a Controll ed Substance (net hanphetamne) in California, for
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She admtted that the underlying drug trafficking offense in her
violation of 8 924(c)(1) was possession with intent to distribute
met hanphet am ne. After hearing the plea colloquy and revi ewi ng t he
Presentencing Investigation Report (“PSR’), the district judge
i nposed the mandatory 5-year sentence for the violation of § 924
(c)(1). He departed downward fromthe sentencing guidelines on the
remaining count and assigned a 30-nonth sentence to run
consecutively.

Wai nuski s noved to set aside her conviction and sentence for
the violation of 8 924(c)(1), based on a change in the |aw
resulting fromthe clarification of “use” of afirearmin Bailey v.

United States, _ U S _ , 116 S.C. 501, L.Ed. 2d 472 (1995). The

district court referred the notion to a magistrate judge, who
determ ned that the gun confiscated fromunder Wai nuskis’s mattress
at the time of her arrest was not “used or carried” in relation to
a drug trafficking offense as defined in Bailey and in United
States v. Andrade, 83 F.3d 729 (5th G r. 1996). Initially, the

district court agreed with the nagi strate judge’s recommendationto
vacate the conviction and sentence inposed for the violation of §
924(c) (1), concluding that, wunder Bailey, the record did not
establish a factual basis for such a conviction. Upon further
exam nation of the plea colloquy and the PSR, the district court
found that there was sufficient information to support Wi nuskis’s

guilty plea and conviction and deni ed her notion.

whi ch she was on probation at the tine of her arrest for the

current offense.



Wai nuski s appeals. She argues that the factual basis for her
pl ea establishes no nore than nere possession and is insufficient
to support a conviction of “use.” The Governnent agrees that there
is an insufficient factual basis to support her plea to violating
the 18 U . S.C. 8§ 924(c)(1) “use” prong under Bailey. It argues,
however, that the plea colloquy record sufficiently supports a
guilty determnation under the unaffected “carry” prong of 8§
924(c)(1). W agree.

1.

Wai nuskis’s guilty plea was taken under Rule 11 of the Federal
Rul es of Crimnal Procedure. Her appeal is properly before this
Court because we have ruled in Andrade, 83 F. 3d 729, 731 (5th
Cr.) that although

[a] plea of quilty typically waives all non-
jurisdictional defects in the proceedings
below... nonetheless, in this particular
context, where intervening | aw has establ i shed
that a defendant’s actions do not constitute a
crime and thus that the defendant is actually
i nnocent of the charged offense, application
of this rule is msplaced.”

Bailey’'s clarification of *“use” provides Winuskis wth
grounds to appeal her conviction and sentence.

We review a district court’s denial of a 8§ 2255 noti on under
two standards. Because “acceptance of a guilty plea is considered
a factual finding that there is an adequate basis for the plea,”

the standard of review of this matter is clear error. Uni t ed

States v. Rivas, 85 F.3d 193, 194 (5th Cr. 1996), (citing United

States v. Adans, 961 F.2d 505, 509 (5th Gr. 1992)). W reviewthe

court’s conclusions of | aw de novo. United States v. Faubion, 19 F.
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3d 226, 228 (5th Cir. 1994).

L1l

A
I n denyi ng Wai nuskis’s notion to set aside her conviction and
sentence i nposed under a Rule 11 plea, the district court exam ned
both the facts available at the tinme of the plea colloquy and t hose
provided later by the PSR According to the United States
Sentenci ng Comm ssion, Quidelines Manual, 8§ 6B1.1(c)(Nov. 1995),

when a dismssal of charges is part of a plea agreenent, the court
“shall defer its decision to accept or reject” any plea agreenent
“until there has been opportunity to consider the presentence
report.” The Governnent di sm ssed two counts agai nst Wai nuskis in
exchange for her guilty plea. The district court relied on both
the plea colloquy and PSR to find a factual basis to support her
guilty plea. Logically, it nust examne the sane information to
determine if there is a factual basis to set aside her conviction.

This Court has upheld the district court’s use of the PSR to
find an insufficient factual basis and to reject a plea agreenent.

United States v. Foy, 28 F. 3d 464 (5th Cr. 1994). See also

United States v. Gulledge, 491 F. 2d 679 (5th Cir. 1974).3
Based on the U S. Sentencing CQuidelines and our

jurisprudence, the district court was correct in considering all

3Al t hough the plea colloquy did not establish a sufficient
factual basis for the defendants’ pleas, the district court could
devel op an adequate record at the sentencing proceeding to sustain
the pleas. QGulledge, 491 F.2d at 679.
5



information at its disposal to determne that a factual basis for
Wai nuskis’s guilty plea existed and to deny her notion to set aside
her conviction and sentence.

B

Wai nuskis argues that Bailey's clarification of “use” in 8§
924(c) (1) requires the setting aside of her sentence and
conviction. “Use” under Bail ey connotes nore than nere possession
of a firearmby a person who comrits a drug offense.* The Bailey
Court held that the |anguage, context and history of 8§ 924(c)(1)
i ndi cates that the Governnent nust show “active enpl oynent” of the

firearns.® Review ng the | anguage of the statute and Congressi ona

intent, the Court noted that nothing indicates that Congress, when

it provided the two terns “use” and “carry,” intended that they be
understood to be redundant. “We assune Congress used two terns
because it intended each termto have a particul ar nonsuperfl uous
meani ng. A firearmcan be used without being carried and a firearm
can be carried wi thout being used.” ©

In clarifying “use” the Court provided an illustrative list:
“brandi shi ng, displaying, bartering, striking wwth and ... firing
or attenpting to fire a firearm”’ Mrre inportantly, the Court

noted t hat use cannot extend to enconpass the action of an of f ender

4 US _, 116 S.Ct. at 506.
°ld.

6ld. at 507.

I'd. at 508.



who has hidden a gun where he can grab and use it if necessary.?®

Wai nuski s’ s plea colloquy established that she was in a back
bedroom during the search of her residence. A pistol was found
under a mattress within armis reach at the tine that the search was
executed. The PSR indicated that Wai nuskis was |ying on the bed in
t hat bedroomand that the sem -automatic pistol was | oaded. Under
Bai | ey, Wi nuskis nerely possessed the weapon and did not actively

enploy it at the tinme of the search. She is correct in stating

that under the Bailey clarification of “use” she has not viol ated
§ 924(c)(1).
C.
Section 924(c)(1)constitutes one offense, but can be viol ated
in either of two ways: using or carrying. Bailey recognized that

the “carry” prong of 8 924(c)(1) brings sone offenders who woul d

not satisfy the “use” prong within the reach of the statute.?®
This Court recently held that, because Bail ey did not address
the “carry” prong of 8§ 924(c)(1), it had no effect on prior

precedent analyzing this | anguage. United States v. Rivas, 85 F. 3d

193, 195 (5th Cir.) cert denied, _ US. _, 117 S. . 593 (1996);

United States v. Tolliver, 116 F. 3d 120, 127 (5th G r. 1997), cert.
deni ed, 1997 W 592674 (U.S., Cct. 14, 1997); United States v.

Muscarell o, 106 F.3d 636, 638 (5th Gr. 1997), cert. filed, 65 USLW

3728 (Apr. 18, 1997).1°% Qur “carry” jurisprudence, when vehicles

I d

I d

8 .
°ld. at 509.

®Muscarel l o recogni zed no change in prior precedent anal yzing
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are not involved, requires a showng that the gun was within arm s
reach during the conm ssion of the drug offense. Tolliver, 116

F.3d at 127, (citing United States v. Pineda-Ortuna, 952 F.2d 98,

103 (5th Cr. 1992)). W have stated that nere possession of the
firearmis insufficient to support a conviction under the “carry”

prong. Tolliver, 116 F.3d at 127; United States v. Hall, 110 F. 3d

1155, 1161 (5th Gr. 1997).

I n Pineda-Ortuno, we noted that nothing in the legislative

hi story of 8 924(c)(1l) suggests that the term “carry” should be
construed as having any neani ng beyond its literal neaning. That

literal neaning we derived from Wbster’'s Third International

Dictionary, 353 (1966): “to nove while supporting (as in a vehicle
or in one’'s hands or arns:...sustain as a burden or |oad and bring
al ong to anot her place.” W also recognized that the “easy reach”
el enrent arose from a judicial expansion of “carrying” in a non-

vehi cl e context. Pi neda- O tuno, 952 F.2d at 104. Earlier we

explained in US. v. Blankenship, 923 F.2d 1110, 1116 (5th Cr.

“carrying” prong at |east where the gun is possessed in a notor
vehicle. There the defendant know ngly possessed a | oaded pi stol
inthe glove conpartnment of his truck. The vehicle itself was used
as a neans of carrying the weapon. [We observe[d] that what
constitutes “carrying” under § 924(c)(1) when the firearm is
possessed in the notor vehicle differs substantially from what
constitutes carrying a firearm on a person because the neans of

carrying is the vehicle itself. 106 F.3d at 639, citing United

States v. Pineda-Ortuno, 952 F.2d 98 (5th Gr. 1992).
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1991) that a person cannot be said to “carry” a firearmw thout at
| east a showing that the gun is within reach during the comm ssion
of the drug offense. !

More recently in U.S. v. Fike, 82 F.3d 1315 (5th GCr. 1996),

we reiterated the necessity of applying a literal neaning to
“carry,” again based on Wbster's definition. Al t hough Fi ke
i nvol ved a vehicle, which satisfied the el enent of transportation,
the firearm was also wthin easy reach, thus sufficiently
supporting a jury finding of “carrying.” Most recently in U S. v.
Thonpson, 122 F. 3d 304 (5th Gr. 304 (5th Gr. 1997), we held that
carrying i nvolves noving or transporting the firearmin sone manner
or bearing the firearm upon one’ s person. It is clear that our
jurisprudence in a non-vehicle context requires both that the
weapon be noved in sone fashion and that it be within arm s reach
(readily accessible) for a violation of the “carry” prong of 8§

924(c) (1). 22

1Bl ankenshi p was found not to have violated the “carry” prong
of 8 924(c)(1l) because he was arrested sone mles away fromthe
not el where he had hidden a gun under a mattress.

12\\6 recogni ze that the followi ng phrasing is found in U.S. v.
Hall, 110 F.3d 938 (5th GCr.1997): “[We conclude that the
prosecution, to sustain a conviction under the ‘carry’ prong of 8§
924(c) (1), nust show that the firearm was transported by the
def endant--or was within his reach-- during and in relation to the
predi cate crine. The text of the decision, citing the Fifth

Circuit precedent discussed above, and the facts of Hall, however,
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There is sufficient information before this Court to find that
Wai nuski s’ s conduct satisfies both the transportation and the ready
accessibility elenents of the “carry” prong. According to the PSR,
Wai nuskis, her nother, and Materne lived together in Petal,
M ssissippi. During a five-nonth period beginning in January 1993,
officers searched the trash at the residence, finding nunerous
| abel s and boxes for firearm accessories. At sonme point during
that tinme, Wainuskis's nother noved out. Confidential informants
told the governnent that the defendants had possession of firearns,
based on what they had seen when they bought drugs from Wai nuski s
and Materne.

The defendants noved to Ellisville, Mssissippi around July
12, 1993, and a search warrant was executed there July 29, 1993.
Twenty-seven guns were found in the residence the two shared. A
sem -automatic pistol was seen on a stool next to Materne; a 9mm
assault pistol was observed within his reach. Oficers discovered
Wai nuskis lying on a bed with a | oaded gun under the edge of the
mattress.

Wai nuski s agreed at the plea colloquy that she was di scovered
in a back bedroomand that the pistol was within arnis reach at the
time the search was execut ed. She did not dispute, either, the
nmore specific PSR that described her as “lying in a bed in a rear

bedroom ... a | oaded sem -automatic pistol Iying in the edge of the

do not reflect that a carry violation is proved by either el enent.
It is clear that we require both transportation and ready
accessibility for a “carry” violation.

10



mattress between the mattress and the night stand.” She admtted
that the two had noved from Petal where they were drug trafficking
to Ellisville. She acknow edged that they had bought guns to
protect their drugs and that they had continued to sell drugs when
they noved to Ellisville. Fromboth the PSR and the plea col | oquy
we could infer that the defendants, in their nove, took with them
the weapons they had acquired while in Petal to protect their
drugs. Because Wi nuskis was not charged with using or carrying a
particular firearm we could infer that the gun under the mattress
was one of those transported by the defendants and kept w thin
reach for Wainuskis to protect their drugs.

The findings and recommendati ons proposed by the magistrate
judge provide an additional |ink between Wiinuskis, the weapon
under the mattress, and the transportation elenent of “carry.” He
found that “Wai nuskis secreted under her mattress a | oaded firearm
whi ch was di scovered during a search... .” In her traverse to the
Governnent’s response to her notion to set aside her conviction,

Wai nuskis nmerely contested the application of pre-Bailey “use” to
her situation, not that she was the one who had hi dden t he weapon.
Pursuant to 28 U. S. C 8 636(b) (1) she had 10 days i n which to object
to specific findings of fact, but she did not.

In entering her guilty plea to a violation of 8 924(c)(1),

Wai nuskis admtted all the facts necessary to show that the gun was

"carried” within the context of our jurisprudence.®® Not only did

13The record clearly indicates that Wi nuskis possessed drugs
wth an intent to distribute both when she lived in Petal and when
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she acknow edge her proximty to a weapon she and Materne had
purchased to protect their drugs, but she al so did not dispute that
she secreted that weapon under the mattress. Addi tional ly, her
adm ssions indicate that there were guns present both in Petal and
in Ellisville. It is only logical to infer that she played a part
in their nove fromone residence to the other. Under our “carry”
jurisprudence, these facts are sufficient to support Wi nuskis’s
guilty plea to a violation of 8§ 924(c)(1) and a denial of her

notion to set aside her conviction.

18 U.S.C § 2 provides grounds to wuphold WAinuskis's

she noved to Ellisville. By its nature, this violation is an on-
goi ng of fense, rather than a one-tine transaction. Likewse, it is
clear from confidential i nf or mant s, narcotics agents, and
Wai nuskis’s own testinony that guns played a part in the offense in
both | ocati ons. The obvious inference that the guns owned by
Wai nuski s and Materne went with themas they transferred their base
of operations to Ellisville satisfies the 8 924(c)(1) requirenent
that the weapons violation occur during and in relation to a drug
trafficking offense. Despite the dissent’s assertion, it is clear
t hat Wai nuski s noved, secreted, and positioned herself withinarns
reach of the gun for the purpose of protecting the drugs she
possessed and intended to distribute.

1418 U.S.C. § 2(a) reads:
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convi ction under both the “use” prong and the “carry” prong of 8§
924(c)(1) as an aider and abettor of Materne's crinme.* That the
couple lived together and sold drugs together for a period of five
months indicates the type of on-going offense to which this

doctrine may be easily applied. In US. v. WIllians,® we stated

that, to be found |iable for another’s crimnal activity, an aider

and abettor nust share in the crimnal intent to use the firearm

Who ever commts an of fense against the United
States or aids, abets, counsels, conmmands,
i nduces or procures its conmm ssion, IS
puni shabl e as a princi pal.
¥I't is not necessary, as the dissent suggests, that Materne
be convicted of a 8 924(c) (1) violation for Wai nuskis to be guilty

as an aider and abettor. See, e.g., United States v. Pearson, 667

F.2d 12 (5th Gr. 1982)(upholding a conviction of aiding and
abetting when the charges against the other defendant were

dismssed) and United States v. Robins, 978 F.2d 881 (5th Cr.

1992) (hol ding that where one of the principals was acquitted the
ot her defendant’s conviction of aiding and abetting him was not
consequently reversed because sufficient evidence existed to find
aiding and abetting.) WMaterne’'s wthdrawal of his guilty plea to
8 924(c)(1l) is akin to a dismssal or an acquittal. Because we
find sufficient evidence of aiding and abetting on Winuskis’'s
part, Materne’s withdrawal of a guilty plea to 8 924(c)(1l) is of
littl e consequence.
16985 F.2d 749, 754 (5th G r. 1993).
13



during a drug trafficking offense. This requires that Wi nuskis
have know edge of the presence of firearns.” She adnmitted that she
and her co-defendant purchased guns to protect thenselves and their
drugs. Confidential informants told of seeing guns during their
drug deals with the two defendants. Wainuskis and Materne |ived
together in a house where 27 guns were found.

Agents saw Materne seated in the kitchen with a gun visible

next to himon a stool and anot her | oaded weapon visible within

arm s reach. The open display of these weapons satisfies the
Bailey “use” requirenment for his conviction under 924(c)(1). 18

Wai nuski s’ s conduct, her continued association with Materne in the
drug dealing schene, indicates her intent to bring about the
success of the venture. It is evident that Winuskis possessed
both the necessary know edge, !* that weapons were available for
Materne’s use, and the intent to be convicted as an aider and
abettor in Materne's crine.

As an ai der and abettor, Wi nuskis can al so be found guilty of
a violation of the “carry” prong of § 924(c)(1). After Wainuskis's
nmot her had noved fromPetal, only Wai nuskis and Materne remai ned in

t hat residence. They noved together to Ellisville. It is a

I d., p. 755.

8The di ssent’s comment that a weapon in plain view does not

equate to “use” according to Bailey seens directly contrary to the

Suprene Court’s illustration of “use” as “the silent but obvious
and forceful presence of a gun on a table.” 116 S.Ct. at 508.
19See |d.
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reasonabl e inference that one or the other had to nove the guns
they were known to have possessed in Petal to their new residence
in Ellisville where 27 guns were found. Because there is no
evidence of any other occupants in the residence, it is also
reasonable to infer that one of the two placed the guns found wth
Mat erne so that they were readily accessible to hi mand that one of
the two placed the gun found under the mattress where Wai nuski s was
I yi ng.
| V. CONCLUSI ON

For the foregoing reasons, we affirm the district court’s
denial of Winuskis’s notion to set aside her conviction and
sent ence.

DENI AL AFFI RMED,

ENDRECORD
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DeMOSS, Circuit Judge, dissenting:

Christine Wainuskis was arrested after officers executed a
search warrant at her residence. Oficers found Wainuskis in a
bedroom lying on a bed. Either under the mattress (Rule 11
col l oquy) or “lying in the edge of the mattress between the bed and
t he night stand” (Presentence Report), officers found a Colt sem -
automatic pistol. Oficers also found Winuskis’ boyfriend
Mat erne, an indeterm nate nunber of other people, a quantity of
drugs, and additional firearns in another part of the house. There
is nothing in the Rule 11 colloquy or the PSR that suggests drugs
were found in the bedroom There is nothing in the Rule 11
colloquy or the PSR that suggests when or by whom the gun was
pl aced under the nattress. There is nothing in the Rule 11
col l oquy or the PSR that suggests any particular drug transaction
was occurring any place in the house at the tinme police began the
sear ch.

The governnent prosecuted WAi nuskis and she pl eaded guilty on
the theory that she “used” the Colt .38 caliber sem -automatic
pi stol taken from under her mattress in violation of 18 U S. C
8 924(c) by exercising “constructive possession” of the pistol to
protect her constructive possession of illegal drugs. Thus,
Wai nuski s’ plea was prem sed upon exactly the type of “possession
wthafloating intent to use” that was repudiated in United States
v. Bailey, 116 S. . 501 (1995). Wai nuskis filed this post-
judgnment notion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255, asking for relief fromher

16



pl ea.

On appeal, we all agree that Winuskis’ plea cannot be
sust ai ned upon the “use” theory that Wi nuskis, the governnent, the
probation officer and the district court uniformy understood to be
the basis of Wainuskis’ plea at the Rule 11 hearing. The majority
opi ni on nonet hel ess proceeds to the concl usi on t hat Wai nuskis’ pl ea
shoul d be sustained on the alternative basis that she “carried” the
Colt pistol found beneath her mattress or that she aided and
abetted Materne’'s independent 8§ 924(c) conviction. Because |
di sagree with both the majority’ s approach and t he substance of its

conclusions, | respectfully dissent.

| .

Wai nuskis’ guilty plea is based entirely upon the “use” prong
of 8 924(c). Both the PSR, which describes her offense, and the
crimnal judgnent, which prescribes her guilt, limt Winuskis
offense to “using a firearm during and in relation to a drug
trafficking offense.” Neither of those docunents purports to base
Wai nuskis’ crimnal liability upon the “carry” prong of 8§ 924(c).
Li kewi se, the transcript of the Rule 11 hearing |eaves no doubt
that the governnent’s prosecution and Wi nuskis’ plea were based
upon pre-Bailey notions of 8§ 924(c) liability. The governnment’s
theory, as expressed in the Rule 11 hearing, was that Wi nuskis
“exerci sed constructive possession” of the Colt pistol at the sane
time she was in constructive possession of drugs. Wainuskis' plea

is consistent. Wen asked to explain the offense, she admtted to
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“having drugs with guns,” and stated “lI was in possession of
met hanphet am ne, and | had guns.” Wainuskis also stated that she

kept firearns, “anong other reasons,” to protect her possession of
unl awf ul drugs.

When Wi nuskis’ plea was taken, evidence that she kept a
firearm for protection related to her engagenent in drug
trafficking was sufficient to establish a violation of § 924(c).
E.g., United States v. Ilvy, 973 F.2d 1184, 1189 (5th Cr. 1992).
After Bailey, such evidence is no |onger considered sufficient.
See Bailey, 116 S. . at 508 (“placenent for protection” is
i ndi stingui shabl e frompossession and is insufficient to establish
§ 924(c) liability); see also United States v. Thonpson, 122 F. 3d
304, 306 (5th Cr. 1997); United States v. Carter, 117 F.3d 262,

265 (5th Cr. 1997). Thus, it is patently apparent that Wi nuskis

entered a plea to conduct that anounted to crimnal use” of a
firearmwhen her plea was accepted, but was rendered non-cri m nal
by the Suprene Court’s disposition in Bailey.

To al |l ow Wai nuskis’ plea to stand when prem sed upon conduct
that the Suprenme Court |ater determ ned to be non-crimnal offends
notions of traditional fairness and underm nes the consensual
nature of Winuskis' plea. See United States v. Addonizio, 99
S. CG. 2235, 2241 (1979); Davis v. United States, 94 S. C. 2298,
2304-05 (1974). Wen a case has been tried to a jury and may be

based upon either the “carry” prong or an i nperm ssi bly broad pre-

Bai | ey construction of the “use” prong, we have generally required

that the case be remanded for retrial on the “carry” prong al one.
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United States v. Johnston, 127 F.3d 380, 404 (5th Gr. 1997)

petition for cert. filed, 66 US. LW __ (US Jan. 24, 1998) ( No.
97-7680); United States v. Brown, 102 F.3d 1390, 1401 (5th Cr.
1996), cert. denied, 117 S. . 1455 (1997); United States v. Fike,
82 F.3d 1315, 1328 (5th Gir.), cert. denied, 117 S. Ct. 241 (1996).
The theory underlying cases such as Johnston, Brown, and Fike is

that the appellate record cannot disclose which of the two

alternative theories, the inpermssible use” theory or the
perm ssible “carry” theory, was made the basis of the defendant’s
conviction. Johnston, 127 F.3d at 404; Brown, 102 F.3d at 1400-01;
Fi ke, 82 F. 3d at 1328. When that approach is applied to Wi nuski s’
case, we find there is no confusion about the theory made the basis
of her conviction -- the governnent, Winuskis, the probation
departnent, and the district court were all operating on the
assunption that Wainuskis’ conviction was to be based upon the
“use” prong of 8 924(c). Were it is absolutely clear, as it isin
this case, that the conviction is based upon a |egally erroneous
theory of prosecution, the principles articulated in those cases

require that the conviction be vacated for repleading or trial on

the perm ssible theory of liability.?°

20 The breadth of the Court’s per se rule requiring reversal

was recently questioned in United States v. WIlson, 116 F. 3d 1066

(5th Gr. 1997). Shortly thereafter, the Court voted to consider

en banc the scope of the per se rule requiring reversal as applied

to Alfred Brown, one of the defendants in United States v. WI son.

United States v. Brown, 123 F.3d 213 (1997) (granting rehearing en
19



Wth respect to guilty pleas, the Court’s inquiry has
typically focused upon whet her the defendant’s plea is supported by
a sufficient factual basis as required by Federal Rule of Crim nal
Procedure 11. In making that determ nation, the Court has | i kew se

consi dered whether the “use” prong, the “carry” prong, or both,

banc). Qur en banc consideration of Brown was cut short, however,
when t he Suprene Court granted a petition for wit of certiorari in
United States v. Miscarello, 106 F.3d 636 (5th Cr. 1997), cert.
granted, 118 S. C. 621 (1997). In Muscarello, the district court
di sm ssed the defendant’s guilty plea to 8 924(c), finding that the
factual basis for Muiscarello’s guilty plea was a “pre-Bailey
conposition” that could not properly be relied upon to establish
Muscarello’s post-Bailey liability on a different theory.
Muscarell o, 106 F.3d at 638-39. On appeal, a panel of this Court
reversed, holding that the district court’s refusal to rely upon
the factual basis was error. | d. The Suprenme Court pronptly
granted a petition for wit of certiorari, and argunent 1is
presently scheduled for March 23, 1998. The Suprene Court’s
disposition of this issue in Miscarello my well change our
under st andi ng of the appropriate renedy in 8 2255 cases rai sing an
argunent that defendant’s conviction is based upon an i nperm ssibly
broad definition of the ®“use” prong. If nothing else, that
possi bility counsel s agai nst a hasty decisionin this case that may
conflict with the Suprenme Court’s ultimte disposition of the issue
in Miuscarello and this Court’s disposition of related issues en
banc in United States v. Brown.
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were nmade the basis of the plea. Where the defendant pleaded
guilty to both “using” and “carrying” a firearm the Court has

rejected the conviction to the extent it is based upon a pre-Bailey

definition of “use,” but proceeded to eval uate the adequacy of the
evidence to support the defendant’s liability on the alternative
theory that he or she “carried” the firearm E. g., United States
v. Hall, 110 F. 3d 1155 (5th Cr. 1997). \Were the defendant was
not charged with “carrying” a firearmor pleaded only to “using” a
firearm the Court has refused to consider whether defendant’s
convi ction can nonet hel ess be supported on the alternative “carry”
prong. E.g., Carter, 117 F.3d 262.

The record denonstrates that Wainuskis’ plea was prem sed
entirely wupon a legally erroneous pre-Bailey definition of
8§ 924(c)’s “use” prong. | would, therefore, vacate her conviction

and remand the cause to the district court for repleading or trial

on the “carry” prong of that statute.

.
| also dissent fromthe majority’s conclusion that Wi nuskis
“carried” the gun that the police pulled out from under her

mattress when her home was sear ched.

Wai nuskis’ case is not novel. Prior to Bailey, prosecutors
relied heavily upon the |iberal construction given 8 924(c)’ s “use”
prong. Since Bailey was decided, this Court has considered a

nunber of § 2255 notions requesting relief on the basis of the

dramati ¢ change effected by the Suprene Court’s narrow ng of that
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of t-i nvoked statute. That swarm of post-judgnent notions for
relief has generated an increasing pressure to expand the “carry”
prong to accommbdate those convictions questioned in |ight of
Bai | ey. Al t hough our cases are neither conpletely uniform nor
explicit, nmy reading of 8 924(c) and the applicable precedent is
that the “carry” prong of 8 924(c) requires proof of the foll ow ng
three elenents: (1) that a defendant exerci sed dom nion or contro
over a firearmby touching, noving or transporting the gun; (2) to
make it accessible; (3) for the purpose of facilitating or
acconplishing the underlying drug trafficking offense. Each of
those el enents is discussed briefly bel ow.

The plain and ordinary neaning of the term “carry” demands
sone showi ng that the defendant touched, noved or transported the
gun. See Hall, 110 F.3d at 1161. That interpretation is
consistent with our own precedent and with the Suprene Court’s
di scussion of 8 924(c) in Bailey. See Bailey, 116 S. . at 507
(“a firearm can be used wthout being carried, e.g., when an
of fender has a gun on display during a transaction, or barters with

a firearm without handling it”) (enphasis added); see also

Thonmpson, 122 F. 3d at 307 (“‘carry’ in 8 924(c)(1) invol ves noving
or transporting the firearmin sone fashion, or bearing the firearm
upon one’s person in sone way’). A few of our non-vehicul ar cases
have haphazardly defined “carry” to permt liability any tine a
defendant is “wthin arm s reach” of the firearm wthout regardto
whether there is evidence the defendant noved, handled or

transported the firearm E g., Hall, 110 F.3d at 1161. At first
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bl ush, those cases appear to be grounded on nere proximty, rather
than handling or novenent. A closer exam nation of those cases,
however, reveals that the proximty of the defendant was neasured
in the opinion itself as a necessary, rather than sufficient,
condition for liability. Hall, 110 F.3d at 1162. | have been
unable to find any case in which we relied solely upon the
defendant’s proximty to a gun not carried on his or her personto
sustain a 8 924(c) conviction.

The “carry” prong also demands a showi ng of accessibility.
When a defendant is accused of carrying a gun and there is no
vehicle involved, the |ogical and obvious neaning of the phrase
“carrying a gun” includes the idea that the gun is at ready and
avai l abl e for the defendant’s use. See Thonpson, 122 F.3d at 307;
Hal |, 110 F.3d at 1161-62; see also United States v. Foster, 1998
WL 2521, at *9 (9th Gr.) (en banc). That obvi ous prem se expl ai ns
both the derivation of the msleading “wthin arm s reach” | anguage
i n our opinions defining “carry” and any confusi on about whether it
is a necessary or sufficient condition for liability. See United
States v. Pineda-Otuno, 952 F.2d 98, 103-04 (5th Cr. 1992)
(describing the evolution of the “easy reach” requirenment in non-
vehi cl e cases). Mvenent w thout ready accessibility woul d anmount
to nothing nore than storage nearby a drug transaction, an even
nmore | udicrous interpretation of “carry” which would elimnate any
potential purpose the gun m ght otherwise play in facilitating the

drug trafficking offense.?® Cf. Bailey, 116 S. C. at 508 (“A

21 W& have on several occasions drawn a distinction between
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def endant cannot be charged under 8 924(c)(1) nerely for storing a
weapon near drugs or drug proceeds. Storage of a firearm wthout
its nore active enploynent, is not reasonably distinguishable from
possession.").

Finally, the plain |anguage of § 924(c) requires proof that
the defendant “used” or “carried” the firearm “during and in
relation to” a crinme of violence or a drug trafficking crinme. The

“In relation to” clause insures that a defendant will not be

“carry” in the vehicular context and “carry” when no vehicle is
i nvol ved. \When a vehicle is involved, the Court has been tenpted
to ignore the requirenent that the firearm be accessible and to
rely solely upon the novenent elenent to establish liability for
“carrying” a gun. Two of our recent cases go so far as to hold
that accessibility is not a required elenent in a vehicular
context. United States v. Harlan, 130 F.3d 1152, 1153 (5th Cr.
1997); Muscarello, 106 F.3d 636 (5th Gr.), cert. granted, 118 S
. 621 (1997). The petition for wit of certiorari which was
granted in Miscarello franed the relevant issue as whether,
contrary to Harlan and Muscarello, liability for “carrying” a gun

requi res a showi ng of accessibility.

The majority opines that Miuscarell o affected no change i n our
vehi cul ar precedent. | disagree. Miscarello, which requires no
show ng of accessibility or contenporaneous connection with the
underlying drug trafficking offense, is inconsistent with our own
precedent and with the Suprene Court’s analysis in Bailey.
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puni shed for commtting a drug trafficking offense while in
possession of a firearm when the presence of the firearm is
coincidental or unrelated to the crine. Smth v. United States,
113 S. C. 2050, 2059 (1993). Section 924(c) requires that there
be sone relation-ship between the presence of the gun and the
underlying drug trafficking offense. See United States v. WI son,
884 F.2d 174, 177 (5th Cr. 1989) (Congress sought to avoid
construction that woul d al l owconviction for i nadvertent possession
of afirearmduring an unrelated crine). Specifically, the firearm
must have sone potential purpose or effect wth respect to the drug
trafficking offense. Smth, 113 S. C. at 2059; see also United
States v. Ponranz, 43 F. 3d 156, 160 (5th Cr. 1995) (the actus reus
of a 8§ 924(c) offense is the enploynent of a weapon in the context
of a predefined crine); id. at 162 (“the indispensable predicate
offense is as inportant or essential to the conpleted offense as
the carrying or wusing of the firearni). The statute further
requires that the actus reus of the offense occur “during” a drug
trafficking crime, which nmakes plain that there nust al so be sone
cl ose tenporal relationship between the defendant’s enpl oynent of
the firearmand the predicate drug trafficking offense.

Based upon the foregoing elenents, WAinuskis’ conviction
cannot be affirnmed on an alternative theory that she “carried” the
gun absent evi dence that Wi nuskis placed the Colt pistol under the
mattress at a tine relevant to and for the purpose of facilitating

the predicate drug trafficking offense.
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L1,

Appl yi ng these el enents to Wai nuskis’ case discloses that the
record is not sufficiently developed to permt liability on the
alternate theory that she “carried” the Colt pistol. G ven
WAi nuski s’ adm ssion that the firearmwas within arm s reach, there
is no dispute that Wi nuskis could have accessed the Colt pistol.
Al t hough the majority agrees in principle that both novenent and
accessibility are required, it fails to require evidence of
movenent, relying instead upon a series of unjustified inferences
drawn froma silent record. The majority fails to even discuss the
third elenment, the statutory requirenent that Wi nuskis’ conduct
occur at arelevant tinme to and for the purpose of facilitating the
predi cate drug trafficking offense. That is because there is no
evi dence that Wi nuskis’ “constructive possession” of the subject
firearm occurred “during and in relation to” the predicate drug
trafficking offense.

The majority sinply decides, wthout the benefit of any
supporting evidence, that Wi nuskis probably placed the gun under
the mattress. To reach that conclusion the majority infers that
Wai nuskis and Materne had guns in Petal, where they lived with
Wai nuskis’ nother, that they noved those guns from Petal to
Ellisville, where the majority states they lived al one, and that
the gun was found in their hone. Therefore, either Wi nuskis or

Mat er ne nust have placed the gun under the mattress.
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Let the record be clear. There is no record evidence that the
Colt pistol found wunder Wainuskis’ nmattress or any other
identifiable weapon was noved from Petal to Ellisville. There is
no record evidence that Wiinuskis, or any other identifiable
person, touched or noved the gun found under the mattress at any
particul ar tine. There is no record evidence that Miterne and
Wai nuskis were the sol e occupants of the Ellisville house. There
is likewi se no evidence indicating that drugs were found in the
bedr oom where Wai nuskis was found or that drug transactions ever
occurred in the bedroomor that any particul ar drug transacti on was
occurring when the house was searched. Simlarly, there is no
indication that the Colt pistol placed under the mattress was
accessi bl e when drug transacti ons were occurring or that the pistol
was capable of or did facilitate any particul ar drug transacti on.

| disagree that we can infer from a silent record that
Wai nuskis placed the gun under the mattress at sone tine in the
past (satisfying the novenent el enent) for the purpose of enpl oying
it in a drug trafficking offense. See United States v. MPhail
112 F. 3d 197, 199-200 (5th Cr. 1997) (refusing to infer that gun
sei zed fromdef endant known to have been i nvol ved in drug trade for
months was carried in car for the purpose of facilitating a drug
transaction). As in MPhail, | do not see how we can sinply assune
away t he required factual basis for Wai nuskis’ plea by substituting
our own view of what likely occurred for a factual basis show ng
what actually occurred. Rather, we should require that a

sufficient factual basis be developed in the district court to
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denonstrate t he def endant was connected wth this gun, and that the
gun nmade t he basis of her conviction was placed under the mattress
for sonme purpose related to her drug trafficking offense. It is
absolutely neaningless to first state that 8 924(c) liability for
“carrying” a firearm requires sone evidence of novenent or
transportation and then to sinply assune that it occurred. %2

Mor eover, even assum ng that Wi nuskis placed the gun under
the mattress, a fact not supported by the record, there can be no
8§ 924(c) liability unless the novenent or transportation occurs at
atine that is relevant to the predicate drug trafficking of fense.
See 18 U.S.C. 8§ 924(c); see also United States v. MKinney, 120
F.3d 132, 134 (8th Cr. 1997). Sinply placing or storing a gun in
a given location for future enploynent in drug trafficking is no
nore “carrying” a gun for purposes of 8 924(c) than it is “using”

a gun. Notwithstanding the well-worn mantra that Bail ey affects no

change in our “carry” precedent, Bailey instructs that both “use

22 Alternatively, the majority relies upon the Magistrate
Judge’s “finding” that WAinuskis secreted the weapon under the
mattress. The Magi strate Judge never made any such finding. The
statenent quoted by the majority is part of the Magi strate Judge’s
finding and concl usion that Wi nuskis exercised no nore contro
over the Colt pistol than possession, and that possession alone is
insufficient to establish liability for “carrying” a firearmin
violation of 8 924(c). Wiinuskis admtted nothing by failing to
object to the Magistrate Judge’s report recommendi ng that she be
granted relief.
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and “carry” have an active, rather than passive, connotation.
Bailey, 116 S. Ct. at 506 (“Had Congress i ntended possessi on al one
to trigger liability under 8§ 924(c)(1), it could easily have so
provided.”); id. at 508 (“A defendant cannot be charged under
8 924(c)(1) nerely for storing a weapon near drugs or drug
pr oceeds. Storage of a firearm wthout its nobre active
enpl oynent, is not reasonably distinguishable from possession.”);
id. at 509 (noting that Congress did not include “intended” conduct
within the anbit of § 924(c)(1)).

Wt hout regard to whet her sinply placing a gun in your bedroom
is “carrying” a gun, surely it stretches credibility to contend
that lying on that bed in a room where there are no drugs is
carrying a gun “during and in relation to” a drug trafficking
of fense sinply because there are drugs in another area of the
house. The majority nakes absolutely no attenpt to establish a
nexus bet ween WAi nuski s’ constructive possession of the Colt pistol
and any underlying drug transaction. Wainuskis was charged with
(though not convicted of) possession with intent to distribute
met hanphet am ne. | suppose Winuskis’ ongoing constructive
possessi on of met hanphet am ne creates the potential for an argunent
that she violated 8§ 924(c) anytine she had constructive possession
of drugs and wandered too close to a firearm Fortunately, we have
rejected that construction in a factually anal ogous case.

In United States v. Hall, 110 F. 3d 1155 (5th G r. 1997) the
defendant was arrested after a search warrant was executed on a

private residence. Oficers found and arrested Hall in the living
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room |d. at 1157-58. There was a large quantity of cocai ne on
the coffee table and a gun lying on the floor within a few feet of
the coffee table. 1d. Hall pleaded guilty. This Court reversed
and vacated Hall’'s conviction, finding that he neither “used” nor
“carried” the gun during and in relation to a drug trafficking
offense. 1d. at 1162. Although the Hall panel relied in part on
the fact that the record did not denonstrate how close Hall was to
the coffee table, and hence the gun, the panel also relied upon the
fact that there was no evidence to establish “who transported the
gun to the trailer or noved it toits position on the floor.” Id.
at 1162.

Wai nuski s presents an even stronger case for relief than Hall.
In Hall, the gun was di scovered in plain view, in the sane room as
both the defendant and the drugs. In this case, the gun was found
conceal ed under a mattress in a room where no drugs were found.
The existing record does not support the inference that Wi nuskis
pl aced the gun under the mattress for the purpose of making it
accessible to facilitate her drug trafficking offense. Thus, the
record contains no evidence that Wi nuski s’ constructive possessi on
of the Colt pistol coincided with her enploynent of that weapon in
t he predicate drug of fense.

In truth, although the mgjority purports to be requiring
evi dence that Wi nuskis noved or transported the firearm it has
actually inferred that elenent out of existence and Wi nuskis
convi ction rests upon not hing nore than what the governnent stated

in the Rule 11 hearing -- constructive possession. The majority
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concedes as much with its comment that “Wai nuskis nerely possessed
the weapon and did not actively enploy it at the tinme of the
search,” a statenent which seens out of line given its concl usion
that Wainuskis “carried” the firearm Possession of a gun, even
during and in relation to a drug trafficking offense, has never
been enough to support a 8 924(c) conviction for “carrying” a gun.
See Smith, 113 S. C. at 2059 (possession of a firearm during a
drug trafficking offense is insufficient to support a 8 924(c)
conviction absent proof that the gun facilitated the drug
trafficking offense); Thonpson, 122 F.3d at 307 (“[i]t is clear
that carry connotes nore than nere possession”); Hall, 110 F. 3d at
1161 (carry “nust connote nore than nere possession of a firearmby
a person who commts a drug offense”); see also Bailey, 116 S. C

at 506 (if Congress “intended possession alone totrigger liability

under 8 924(c)(1l) it easily could have so provided”); id. at 506

(the ordinary neanings of “use” and “carry” connote nore than
sinpl e possession). Because the record does not contain any
evi dence t hat Wai nuski s noved or transported the gun nade t he basis
of her plea, | would hold that the factual basis supporting her
plea is insufficient to support her liability on the alternative
theory that she “carried” the Colt pistol.

Recogni zi ng t he weakness of the tenuous series of inferences
underlying its conclusions that Wi nuskis placed the gun under the
mattress, the majority seeks to expand the of fense by relying upon

additional firearns seized from Wai nuskis’ house.?® The problem

23 Contrary to the mpjority’s presentation both the Rule 11
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wth that analysis is that there is no nore evidence that Wi nuski s
moved any one of those other guns than there is evidence that she
moved the Colt pistol nade the basis of her plea. Likew se, there
is no nore evidence tying any of those guns to the predicate drug
trafficking offense than there is wth respect to the Colt pistol
made the basis of her plea. Expanding the inquiry to the other
guns does not bol ster the majority’s concl usion that Wi nuskis was
carrying a gun during and in relation to a drug trafficking
of f ense.

Wai nuskis and Materne admtted that the two guns nade the
subject of their respective convictions, the Ruger pistol found
near Materne and the Colt pistol found near Wi nuskis, were their
guns. There is absolutely no evidence that the remaining guns
found in the honme, or any particular one of the guns found in the
home, were exclusively Materne’s and Wai nuskis’. To the contrary,
the PSR states that “nunerous firearnms in the kitchen/den area were
| ocated within arm s reach of the majority of the occupants of the
ki tchen and den.” That statenent suggests that there were a nunber
of people in the house when the search occurred, and that those
i ndi vidual s may have been in possession of firearns. Li kew se,
there is no evidence establishing that Materne and Wai nuskis |ived
at the Ellisville address alone or that they owned or controlled
all of the firearns found at that address.

The record contains no evidence that Wi nuski s noved, handl ed

hearing and the PSR rely upon Wi nuskis’ possession of the Colt
pi stol to define her offense.
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or transported the firearm made the subject of her plea. Even
assum ng that Wiinuskis placed the gun under the mattress, the
record contains no evidence that Wiinuskis actively enployed the
firearmduring and in relation to a drug trafficking offense. I
do not think we can ignore the | essons of Bail ey and resurrect pre-
Bailey 8§ 924(c) law by sinply ignoring both of those substantive
el ements of 8§ 924(c) liability. Winuskis conviction cannot be
sustained by resort to the novel theory not contenplated in the
district court that she “carried” the Colt pistol in violation of

§ 924(c).

| V.

| also dissent fromthe majority’s conclusion that Wi nuski s’
conviction can be sustained on the theory that she aided and
abetted Materne’'s i ndependent violation of § 924(c).

As aninitial matter, | object tothe majority’s reliance upon
this theory which was not included in the indictnent against
Wai nuski s, was not made the basis of her plea and was not in fact
raised until the governnment filed a notion for reconsideration of
the district court’s decision to grant Wainuskis relief on her
§ 2255 notion. | also believe, however, that the majority reaches
the wong conclusion fromapplication of this theory.

Wai nuski s’ pl ea cannot be sustained on an ai di ng and abetting
t heory absent evidence that Miterne violated § 924(c) and that
Wai nuskis engaged in conduct in furtherance of that offense.

Quidry v. Bank of LaPlace, 954 F.2d 278, 283 n.5 (5th Gr. 1992)
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(aiding and abetting statute requires proof that principal
comm tted subject offense); United States v. MCoy, 539 F.2d 1050,
1064 (5th Gr. 1976) (“It is true that the existence of the crine
is an elenment of the offense of aiding and abetting.”); United
States v. Barfield, 447 F.2d 85, 89 (5th Cr. 1971) (aiding and
abetting statute requires proof “beyond a reasonabl e doubt that the
all eged offense was conmtted by soneone and that the person
charged as an aider and abettor assisted in the comm ssion of the
crinme”). WAinuskis’ assistance nust be denonstrated with evidence
that she (1) associated wwth the crimnal venture; (2) participated
in the venture; and (3) sought by action to make the venture
succeed. United States v. Salazar, 66 F.3d 723, 729 (5th Cr.
1995); United States v. Martiarena, 955 F.2d 363, 366 (5th GCr.
1992) .

The principal defect in the majority’s aiding and abetting
theory is that Materne was not convicted for violating 8§ 924(c).?
Moreover, the record evidence relating to the § 924(c) charge

against Mterne suffers from the sane deficiencies as that

24 Materne initially pleaded guilty to violating 8 924(c) at
the sane hearing in which Wi nuskis pleaded guilty. The docket
sheet reflects that Materne later filed a notion to withdraw his
guilty plea to the 8§ 924(c) charge, which was granted by the
district court. The substance of Materne' s second Rule 11 heari ng,
in which he pleaded guilty to other charges, is not part of the
appel late record, but it is clear that he was not convicted on the
§ 924(c) charge.
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present ed agai nst Wai nuskis. The majority posits that Materne was
both “using” and “carrying” the Ruger pistol. The pistol was not
“used” just because it was sitting in plain view when police
searched the house, a fact which the mpjority equates wth
Materne’ s active enploynent by “display.” Bailey, 116 S. C. at
508 (“The active-enploynent understanding of ‘use’ certainly
i ncl udes brandi shing, displaying, bartering, striking wth, and
nmost obviously, firing or attenpting to fire, a firearm?”).
What ever the Suprene Court neant by “displaying” a firearm | feel
sure that “active enploynent” requires sonething nore than sinply
being within armis reach of a visible gun in your honme. Simlarly,
the gun was not “carried’” just because, as with the Colt pisto

attributed to Wainuskis, it was found within arms reach of
Mat er ne. The majority’s construction would permt Mterne's
liability any tine he wandered within arnmis reach of a visible
firearmat the sane tinme he was al so in constructive possession of
drugs. Such a construction reads out Congress’ limtation to
firearms used and carried “during and in relation to” a drug
trafficking offense. See Smth, 113 S. C. at 2059. Thus, | am
not at all certain that the record sufficiently establishes an
i ndependent 8§ 924(c) violation by Mterne.

Even assuming the record establishes Materne' s independent
viol ation of §8 924(c), there is absolutely no evidence to establish
the post-judgnent theory that WAinuskis aided and abetted that
vi ol ati on. The majority’s discussion depends upon Wi nuskis’

participation in Materne's drug trafficking. See Majority Opinion
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at 12-13 (“That the couple lived together and sold drugs together
for a period of five nonths indicates the type of on-going of fense
to which this doctrine may be easily applied.”). Selling drugs,
even when done together, does not violate 8 924(c) and does not
tend to show how or whether Wiinuskis facilitated Materne's
possessi on of the Ruger pistol.

Wai nuskis cannot be held liable for aiding and abetting
Mat er ne unl ess she “engaged in sone affirmati ve conduct designed to
aid the venture.” Martiarena, 955 F.2d at 367 (rejecting as
i nsufficient governnent’s evidence that defendant knew about and
attenpted to avoid principal’s exposure to liability for offense,
and requiring evidence that defendant “actively participated in
conduct that assisted or rewarded principal’s offense”).
Specifically, Wainuskis’ plea nust be supported with evidence that
she knew the particular gun was available to Materne and that she
t ook sone action which assisted Materne’s use or carriage of the
weapon. E.g., Salazar, 66 F.3d at 729 (“the jury was required to
find that Salazar knew that the gun was at |east available to
Hernandez and that Salazar took some action which assisted
Her nandez's use of the gun") (internal citation omtted). Mer e
presence and associ ation, which are all that has been shown here,
are insufficient. 1d.; Martiarena, 955 F.2d at 366-67.

The majority al so i nvokes the aiding and abetting theory with
respect to the Colt pistol found under Wai nuskis’ mattress and with
respect to the additional firearns found in the house. | can think

of no reason why, after reaching the conclusion that Wi nuskis’
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plea is supported by a sufficient factual basis with respect to her
own conduct, the mgjority needs to develop not one but three
separate theories for holding her vicariously |iable for Materne’s
conduct. The gist seens to be that there are plenty of bad facts
to support the notion that sonewhere, at sone tinme, 8 924(c) was
violated, whether by Mterne wth Winuskis’ know edge and
assi stance, or by Wainuskis herself. Wile |I can understand, and
per haps even synpathize with that position, | think the maority’s
i ndul gence in a fanciful series of inferences and theories reveals
a blindly determned intent to support the guilty plea. Federal
Rul e of Cri m nal Procedure 11 and the well-established
constitutional principles upon which it is based require nore. The
appropriate renmedy is to remand wth instructions that each el enent
of the pleaded of fense be supported wth sone factual basis. The
governnent’s Rule 11 burden is |ight and can be net with evi dence
| ogi cally addressi ng each el enent of the offense. Wen, as here,
the |law changes dramatically after a plea such that we are
purporting to sustain a guilty plea on at least four alternative
theories that were never part of the cal culus when the defendant
pl eaded guilty, | think justice demands that we return the case to
the district court for a clarification of the plea.

| would vacate Wainuskis’ plea and remand to the district
court for repleading or trial with due consideration of the Suprene

Court’s decisionin United States v. Bailey, 116 S. C. 501 (1995).
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